RECEIVED

Jul 16 2025

SC Court of Appeals

IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Mikell R. Scarborough, Master in Equity

Case No. 2021-CP-10-2661
Appellate Case No. 2024-001312

Jason Loy Harn.....Respondent,

v.

Mary Nicole Reavis f/k/a Mary Nicole Harn.....Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

July 15, 2025.

THE LAW OFFICE OF
DAVID CONOR KEYS, LLC
s/ D. Conor Keys
D. Conor Keys (100148)
P.O. Box 14225
Charleston, SC 29422
Phone: 843-906-3998
conor@dconorkeyslaw.com
Attorney for Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. THE MASTER ERRED IN FAILING TO GRANT APPELLANT'S DECLARED RIGHT OF FIRST REFUSAL TO PURCHASE RESPONDENT'S INTEREST IN THE PROPERTY, PURSUANT TO S.C. CODE ANN. §15-61-25.
- II. THE MASTER ERRED IN FINDING, GIVEN THE FACTS AND CIRCUMSTANCES OF THE CASE, THAT IT WAS APPROPRIATE TO DIVIDE THE PROPERTY IN KIND.
- III. THE MASTER'S FINDINGS OF FACT FOR DETERMINING THE PROPERTY SHOULD BE DIVIDED IN KIND AS ORDERED, LACKED EVIDENTIARY SUPPORT. THE RESULT IS INEQUAL, UNFAIR, AND INJURIOUS TO APPELLANT.
- IV. THE MASTER ERRED IN REQUIRING APPELLANT TO POST A BOND PURSUANT TO S.C. CODE ANN. § 18-9-170.
- V. THE MASTER ERRED IN ADMITTING INTO EVIDENCE AND NOT STRIKING PLAINTIFF'S EXHIBIT 11 AND TESTIMONY REGARDING SETTLEMENT NEGOTIATIONS AND MEDIATION.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondent Jason Loy Harn ("Respondent" or "Jason") and Appellant Mary Nicole Reavis, formerly Mary Nicole Harn ("Appellant" or "Nicole") are brother and sister (collectively hereinafter "Siblings") and the only children of Loy William Harn ("Father"). In 1990 Father purchased forty-six acres containing a house, a barn, a pond and other complementary structures with an address of 1506 Highway 45, McClellanville, SC 29458 ("Property") (R.pp. 10; 605). Father and his children used the Property as a weekend home during father's lifetime (R.pp. 174-75). In January of 2002, Father passed away. As a result of Father's estate being probated, Appellant and Respondent each received a half interest in all of Father's valuable real and personal property including a jewelry store business and multiple real properties including the Property, which was deeded to Appellant and Respondent by deed of distribution dated May 14, 2003 (R.pp. 10; 219-221; 605). Appellant and her husband James Reavis ("Jami") were dating at the time and married the next summer (collectively the "Reavis") (R.pp. 395, 455-456). After

Father passed, Respondent began residing in the Property (R.pp. 136, 174-75, 236, 280-81, 293-395). Appellant testified that Respondent had exclusive use of the Property from 2003 to 2013 (R.pp. 293-95). Appellant testified that since 2003 her husband Jami would bring his landscaping crew from his landscaping business out to the Property couple times a year to do landscaping work and maintenance on the Property (R.pp. 302-307). Respondent testified that Jami would bring is landscaping crew out to landscape the Property once a year (R.p. 246). The Parties testified Jami did maintenance work of the Property septic tank and/or septic field at times (R.pp. 245-246, 302, 305-06). In 2014 Respondent married his wife Keenan Harn (“Keenan”) (R.p. 281) (collectively the “Harns”) (collectively all four people are hereinafter the “Parties”). Keenan testified Respondent never lived in the Property after they married in 2014 (R.p. 280). Appellant testified she never went to the Property after her Father’s passing until 2015 (R.pp. 293-94). From 2003 to 2009 the Siblings owned and operated the jewelry store business together and the taxes for the Property were paid through the jewelry store business. In 2009 Appellant agreed to sell her half interest in the jewelry store business to Respondent and Appellant testified thereafter for six and a half or seven years Respondent made monthly payments to Appellant pursuant to their agreement regarding Respondent’s purchase of Appellant’s interest in the jewelry store (R.pp. 217-219, 293-99). The Siblings both testified that in the time period from 2009 to 2015, Respondent would subtract amounts from the monthly payments he made to Appellant to account for the Property taxes (R.pp. 238-45, 293-99). Respondent testified that from 2016 to present Appellant paid the Property taxes in full at least once maybe twice (R.pp. 238-45). The Charleston County Tax Property Record Receipts within the Record evidence the Reavis paid the taxes in 2017 and 2021 (R.pp. 238-45; 644). The Parties testified that the Reavis paid for property insurance for the Property for multiple years (R.pp. 238-40, 244-45, 298-302). Respondent testified that he never

paid for Insurance on the Property (R.pp. 238-245). Appellant testified she and her brother had an agreement some years that she and Jami would pay for the Property insurance and Respondent would pay for the Property taxes (R.pp 298-299). Appellant testified and evidence in the record reflects that in or around 2017 or 2018 the Siblings agreed to use the Property on a every other week basis where on Sibling and their family would have exclusive use of the Property for a week and then the other sibling would (R.pp. 282, 293-; 648) In October of 2019 Respondent and his wife rented a home in McClellanville which they have continually maintained as their personal residence since that time (R.pp. 236-237). The Parties testified that during Covid in 2020 Appellant and her family and Keenan and her children resided in the Property (R.pp 273-274, 311, 317-18). In September of 2020, Jami purchased the 18-acre adjoining lot on the south west boundary of the Property (“Jami Lot”) with the intent of building on it (R.p. 482). The easement providing ingress and egress access to the Property runs through the Jami Lot. A number of disputes between the Parties resulted in the Hams ceasing to reside in the Property in the end of 2020 (R.pp. 273-275, 317-21). Appellant and her family have resided in the Property as their primary residence since they originally moved into the Property in 2020. In or around the beginning 2021, the Parties came to an agreement on how to divide the property between as evidence by the surveys dated April and October of 2021, whereby the Property would be divided into two tracts of roughly 23 acres a piece with Respondent receiving Tract 1 the “L” shaped tract around the perimeter of the Property and the National Forest and Appellant receiving Tract 2 containing the house, pond, and Hangar Barn adjoining Jami’s lot (R.pp. 175-177; 250; 269-71; 311-16; 504-11; 641-644). It was also agreed at that time that Appellant would pay Respondent additional financial consideration for receiving the tract with the house (175-177; 250; 269-71; 504-11; 641-644). It is undisputed that the Parties had an agreement to divide the Property in 2021, how, when, and why that agreement

fell apart is disputed amongst the Parties (R.pp. 271-73, 283, 310-314). Respondent filed this action in June of 2021, seeking partition and requesting the court to subdivide the Property into two distinct tracts. Respondent sought service of Appellant by publication and petitioned to have Appellant held in default on January 6, 2022 (R.pp. 36-44). Shortly thereafter, the Appellant learned for the first time that the Respondent had filed this action over six months earlier (R.pp. 311-315; 347; 598; 730; 761). In January of 2022, an incident involving Respondent resulted in Appellant subsequently obtaining a restraining order against Respondent (R.pp. 63; 128-29; 136; 214-215; 320; 345Trl). On March 8, 2022, Appellant filed an answer and counterclaim asserting her right of first refusal to purchase Respondent's interest in the Property pursuant to S.C. CODE ANN. §15-61-25 (R.pp. 62-65). In March of 2022, the Harns purchased a 1 acre lot near the school in the town of McClellanville with the intent of building upon said lot (R.pp. 215; 256-57, 284). The Siblings mediated this matter in June of 2022 (R.p. 590). On October 4, 2022, Respondent filed a Motion to Compel Settlement (R.p. 70-71). October 6, 2022, Respondent filed a Motion to Amend the Complaint, asserting that Hurricane Ian, which passed through the area on September 30, 2022, had caused damage to the roof of the home on the Property (R.pp. 75; 81, 127; 135; 185-186; 239; 255-56; 400-02; 437-438). January 17, 2023, an Order Denying Respondent's Motion to Compel Settlement and granting Respondent's Motion to amend the complaint was filed (R.p. 7). On January 27, 2023, Respondent filed an amended complaint (R.p. 52). Appellant filed an answer and counterclaim to the amended complaint on March 8, 2023 (R.p. 62). Appellant filed a motion to appoint an appraiser and a motion for continuance of trial on April 14, 2023 (R.pp. 88-94). On April 18, 2023, a trial hearing was held before the Honorable Mikell R. Scarborough, which was paused and then resumed by hearing on April 26, 2023. At the conclusion of the trial hearing on April 26, 2023, the Master requested the parties provide more information and

undertake further actions prior to his entering a final order (R.pp. 548-560). Over a year later on June 27, 2024, the Master filed the Order of Partition (R.p. 10). July 8, 2024, Appellant filed a motion to reconsider the Order (R.p. 97). July 12, 2024, an Order denying Appellant's Motion to Reconsider was filed (R.p. 24) August 9, 2024, Appellant filed this Notice of Appeal (R.p. 66). August 14, 2014, Respondent filed a Motion for Bond with the lower court. (R.p. 100). On October 2, 2024 Appellant filed a memorandum in opposition to the motion for bond and emailed a courtesy copy to the Court (R.p. 593). On October 2, 2024, a hearing on Respondent's Motion for Bond was held before the Master. On October 9, 2024, the Master filed an order require Appellant to Post a bond in the amount of \$50,000.00 (R.p. 21). On October 19, 2024, Appellant filed a Motion to Reconsider the Order of Bond (R.p. 102). On October 24, 2024, the Master filed an Order denying Appellant's Motion to Reconsider (R.p. 24) On November 13, 2024, Appellant posted the Bond (R.p. 593). On November 13, 2024, Appellant filed an appeal of the Order of Bond. On November 18, 2024, this Court issued a correspondence consolidating the appeals.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“A partition action is an equitable action and, as such, we may review the evidence to determine facts in accordance with our own view of the preponderance of the evidence.” *Anderson v. Anderson*, 299 S.C. 110, 382 S.E.2d 897 (1989). “This Court reviews all questions of law de novo. Review of the trial court's factual findings, however, depends on the whether the underlying action is an action at law or an action in equity. In an action at law, the trial court's factual findings will not be disturbed upon appeal unless found to be without evidence which reasonably supports the trial court's findings. In an action in equity, the appellate court may resolve questions of fact in accordance with its own view of the preponderance of the evidence. However, this broad scope of review does not require this Court to disregard the findings at trial or to ignore the fact that the

master was in a better position to assess the credibility of the witnesses.” *Fesmire v. Digh*, 385 S.C. 296, 302-03, 683 S.E.2d 803 (Ct. App. 2009)

ARGUMENT

I. THE MASTER ERRED IN FAILING TO GRANT APPELLANT’S DECLARED RIGHT OF FIRST REFUSAL TO PURCHASE RESPONDENT’S INTEREST IN THE PROPERTY, PURSUANT TO S.C. CODE ANN. §15-61-25.

“In interpreting the meaning of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure, the Court applies the same rules of construction used to interpret statutes. If a rule's language is plain, unambiguous, and conveys a clear meaning, interpretation is unnecessary and the stated meaning should be enforced.” *Maxwell v. Genez*, 356 S.C. 617, 620, 591 S.E.2d 26 (2003) “In interpreting a statute and a rule of civil procedure we follow the cardinal rule that legislative intent must prevail if it can be reasonably discovered in the language used, and that language must be construed in light of the intended purpose of the statute or rule. The language must also be read in a sense which harmonizes with its subject matter and accords with its general purpose.” *Marichris, LLC v. Derrick*, 384 S.C. 345, 352-53, 682 S.E.2d 301 (Ct. App. 2009) (citations omitted). “The primary rule of statutory construction is to ascertain and give effect to the intent of the General Assembly. Our supreme court has held that a statute shall not be construed by concentrating on an isolated phrase. It is well settled that statutes dealing with the same subject matter are in pari materia and must be construed together, if possible, to produce a single, harmonious result.” *Oulla v. Velazques*, 427 S.C 428, 441, 831 S.E.2d 450 (Ct. App. 2019).

S.C. Code Ann. §15-61-25 is titled “Right of first refusal of joint tenant or tenant in common to purchase property prior to partition; procedure” and states:

(A) Upon the filing of a petition for partition of real property owned by joint tenants or tenants in common, the court shall provide for the nonpetitioning joint tenants or tenants in common who are interested in purchasing the property to notify the court of that interest no later than ten days prior to the date set for the trial of the case. The nonpetitioning joint tenants or tenants in common shall be allowed to purchase the interests in the property as provided in this section whether default has been entered against them or not.

(B) In the circumstances described in subsection (A) of this section, and in the event the parties cannot reach agreement as to the price, the value of the interest or interests to be sold shall be determined by one or more competent real estate appraisers, as the court shall approve, appointed for that purpose by the court. The appraisers appointed pursuant to this section shall make their report in writing to the court within thirty days after their appointment. The costs of the appraisers appointed pursuant to this section shall be taxed as a part of the cost of court to those seeking to purchase the interests of the joint tenants or tenants in common petitioning to sell their interest in the property described in the petition for partition.

(C) In the event that the petitioning joint tenants or tenants in common object to the value of the interests as determined by the appointed appraisers, those joint tenants or tenants in common shall have ten days from the date of filing of the report to file written notice of objection to the report and request a hearing before the court on the value. An evidentiary hearing limited to the proposed valuation of the interests of the petitioning joint tenants or tenants in common shall be conducted, and an order as to the valuation of the interests of the petitioning joint tenants or tenants in common shall be issued.

(D) After the valuation of the interest in property is completed as provided in subsection (B) or (C) of this section, the nonpetitioning joint tenants or tenants in common seeking to purchase the interests of those filing the petition shall have forty-five days to pay into the court the price set as the value of those interests to be purchased. Upon the payment and approval of it by the court, the court shall execute and deliver or cause to be executed and delivered the proper instruments transferring title to the purchasers. *S.C. Code Ann. §15-61-25.*

In this case Appellant in her March 16, 2022, answer and counterclaim states:

15. That the Property is incapable of division in kind.

16. That Defendant has and is entitled to exercise a right of first refusal to purchase Plaintiff's interest in the Property pursuant to South Carolina Law. S.C. CODE ANN. §15-61-25.

17. That Defendant intends to exercise her right of first refusal to purchase Plaintiff's interest in the Property, subject to Defendant's claims for set off.

18. That Defendant has the financial ability to purchase Plaintiff's interest in the Property. (R.pp. 46-47)

March 8, 2023, Appellant filed her amended answer and counterclaim to Plaintiff's amended complaint, wherein she again stated:

11. That Defendant has and is entitled to exercise a right of first refusal to purchase Plaintiff's interest in the Property pursuant to South Carolina Law. S.C. Code Ann. §15-61-25.
12. That Defendant intends to exercise her right of first refusal to purchase Plaintiff's interest in the Property.
13. That Defendant has the financial ability to purchase Plaintiff's interest in the Property.
14. That, upon information and belief, the Property is incapable of division in kind.
15. That partition in kind is not appropriate under the present circumstances given the animosity between the parties, the existence of a restraining order for Defendant against Plaintiff, and that ingress and egress access to the Property if partitioned in kind would require Plaintiff to use an easement over land owned by Defendant's husband. (R.p. 63)

On April 14, 2023, Appellant filed a motion for continuance of trial as well as a motion to requesting the Master appoint an appraiser, stating:

5. This case is set for trial on April 18, 2023.
6. However, Plaintiff and Defendant have been unable to agree on an appraiser. Moreover, Plaintiff will not agree an appraisal should be done at all.
7. Plaintiff currently has an appraisal, but this has not been provided to Defendant and her counsel.
8. Because the value of the property is integral to this trial and the parties' positions, going into trial without an appraisal completed is premature.
9. Defendant filed a Motion to Appoint Appraiser contemporaneously with this Motion.
10. As such, the Court should continue the Trial Hearing for a later date and time after an appraiser has been appointed and appraisal o[f] the Subject Property has been completed. (88-94)

At the beginning of trial the Master and Appellant's counsel state:

THE COURT: I know that there were a couple of motions outstanding that we needed to take up before we start, but let me just start with this. This case is a '21 case. It's been before the Court for a while. I issued a scheduling order in March of last year. We were looking at going to trial sometime after August. I got the message that the parties had settled the case at mediation, and then there was a issue that came up about whether or not the settlement had actually been consummated, and we had a hearing. ruled there was no settlement. So we're back to where we are with the trial. And so we scheduled it -- I can't remember -- sometime earlier this year. We scheduled it for today. I did get from Mr. McGee a motion for a continuance on the basis that he did not have an appraisal to submit, and I sort of dealt with that yesterday by denying the motion. Mr. McGee, I don't know that you have to have an appraisal. Might be of benefit. Your client, as an owner of the

property, is entitled to render her opinion as to value. That's one of the exceptions we have.

MR. MCGEE: Well, Judge, specifically the motion was based on the statute on 15-61-25. And the defendant here is the non petitioning party in the partition action, and the statute specifically states that the Court will appoint an appraisal once the notice is provided. The notice was provided that she intended to purchase the petitioner's interest in the property.

THE COURT: When was that given?

MR. MCGEE: That was given March 8 of this year.

THE COURT: Was that sent to the Court?

MR. MCGEE: That was sent to the Court in the answer.

THE COURT: In the answer? Well, we got an issue about the answer. But go ahead.

MR. MCGEE: And so that was given -- well, Judge, even under the statute, even an issue with the answer, 15-61-25 (a) provides whether default has been entered against them or not, certainly that notice is effective regardless of the timeliness of the answer. We're going to get into the timeliness of the answer but the notice was given. And so once that notice was given pursuant to the statute in subsection B, if the -- in the event the parties cannot reach an agreement as to the price, I'm quoting this, the value of the interest or interest to be sold shall be determined by one or more competent real estate appraisers as the Court shall approve appointed for that purpose by the Court, and once that appraiser is appointed then that appraiser gives a report in writing to the Court within days after their appointment and then there's a process ten days after that report for either of the parties to object to that value in that report. And then I think the parties can come in and request a hearing, come in with their own appraisers and argue about that value. So that's the problem we have today, Judge, is we're here on a partition action and none of us have complied with the statute. I can't get opposing counsel to agree that we need an appraiser, so I have requested that several times. The response was we got an appraisal and they said on March 14th they would give me their appraisal. I don't have it yet as I sit here today. And really it doesn't matter because we have an appraiser, too, and there's an issue about whether he could appear virtually today, and I know Your Honor would not be happy with that request. But we can come in with our own appraisers and argue about that, but ultimately we have to follow this statute. And so that's what the motion really --

THE COURT: Let me stop you there. All right. So when I issued a scheduling order in March -- actually it was in February of '22, the expert was listed as NA, not applicable, and y'all must have waived it....

THE COURT: So let me start with this proposition. Usually what I do in a partition case is I cover the bases for partition. So this is like a 46, 50 acre tract of land. There's two owners. I don't understand how there could not be a potential for a partition in kind, i.e, the division of the property. So unless the parties say they're going to waive that, that's the first step in the partition process. There's three types of partition. There's partition in kind. I don't think there's any question but you can subdivide this property, but that's one issue. The next step in the process is the allotment. Mr. McGee, as I read your pleadings, that's what you seek in this particular case. You want to buy out the interest of the other party.

MR. MCGEE: Correct.

THE COURT: The amount that you pay is called owelty. You will pay the owelty to purchase the property. That does get into a valuation issue. Okay? And then finally, there's a partition by sale. I think this case was originally pled that way but the pleadings were amended at some point in time. It's a three-step process here. But this Court has never appointed an appraiser except in those instances when probably the valuations are so far apart that I want to get a third appraisal...

THE COURT: All right. Okay. All right. So under 15-61-25 in a partition action, the defendant in the action is allowed to purchase the interest of the property whether or not default has been entered against them. I'm going to find that the answer in counterclaim which was filed on March 8, 2023 should be allowed for good cause and that's Mr. McGee's inability to get on to the AIS system. So I'm going to allow the answer in counterclaim under Rule 55 (c). I think the pleadings have previously been joined. The only thing I saw different is this nuisance claim, and it would appear to me that's going to come to light during the trial of the case as I said before. Also in that pleading, the property cannot be partitioned in kind, and I would say that's going to be a very strong, difficult burden for you to overcome, Mr. McGee, but I'll give you that opportunity. And I'm not going to try the easement case, but you can raise the issue if you like and we can talk about that during the course of the trial. So anything further? Any other motion we can take up before we commence?...

THE COURT: Very good. All right. Is the plaintiff ready to proceed?...

THE COURT: You want to make a short opening? I would be happy to hear from you...

THE COURT: Okay. Mr. McGee?

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