**RECEIVED**

**May 22 2025**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Mikell R. Scarborough, Master in Equity

Case No. 2021-CP-10-02661  
Appellate Case No. 2024-001312

Jason Loy Harn.....Respondent,

vs.

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

## ARGUMENT

I. THE MASTER IN EQUITY PROPERLY RULED THAT THIS PARTITION WOULD BE A PARTITION IN KIND WHERE THERE ARE TWO OWNERS OF PROPERTY WHERE THERE WAS NO WAIVER OF PARTITION IN KIND AND THE PROPERTY AT ISSUE IS EASILY DIVIDED BETWEEN THE TWO OWNERS AS THE NON-PETITIONING PARTY FAILED TO PROVE THAT THE PROPERTY COULD NOT BE PARTITIONED IN KIND PURSUANT TO S.C. CODE ANN. §15-61-50 WHICH PROVIDES FOR MAKING A PARTITION IN KIND AND DID NOT EXERCISE HER RIGHTS PER S.C. CODE ANN. §15-61-25

Partition in kind is the favored method of partition where it can be made without injury to the parties. *Campbell v. Jordan*, 382 S.C. 445, 675 S.E.2d 801 (Ct. App. 2009) As Judge Scarborough noted, “So let me start with this proposition. Usually what I do in a partition case is cover the bases for partition. So this is like a 46, 50 acre tract of land. There’s two owners. I don’t understand how there could not be a potential for a partition in kind , i.e. the division of the property. (ROA 117-118) By ordering an in kind partition, the Master in Equity fairly considered and balanced the equities with a survey to be done and the land to be divided in a manner that will effect the partition. Both Parties submitted proposals for partition in kind. (ROA 11) Now, Mrs. Reavis claims that to be inequitable and unfair.

The Master in Equity cited *Zimmerman v. Marsh*, 365 S.C. 383, 618 S.E.2d 989 (2005) as one of the cases he relies upon for guidance in partition actions. In that case the Master in Equity for Georgetown County found that the property was not able to be partitioned in kind due to its “size, shape, and location”. *Id.* The Master in Equity found that due to significantly disparate appraisals, the court could not partition by allotment, citing *Pruitt v. Pruitt*, 289 S.C. 411, 380 S.E.2d (Ct. App. 1989) In *Zimmerman*, the Supreme Court

determined that the Master in Equity erred in finding a partition by allotment could not be made where a partition in kind was not possible. Statutorily, partition in kind should be the first form of partition in kind is favored over allotment which is favored over a sale. S.C. Code Ann. §15-61-50; *Campbell v. Jordan*, 382 S.C. 445, 675 S.E.2d 801 (Ct. App. 2009); *Cox v. Frierson*, 316 S.C. 469, 451 S.E.2d 1994 (partition by allotment preferred over sale)

Judge Scarborough correctly determined that an in kind partition would be in the best interest of all the parties. The pecuniary interest of the parties is the determining factor in deciding which form of partition should take place. *Campbell v. Jordan*, 382 S.C. 445, 675 S.E.2d 801 (Ct. App. 2009). As in *Campbell v. Jordan*, *id*, Judge Scarborough determined that the Property could be split between the parties with a new survey to be conducted to divide the property. At trial, Mrs. Reavis and her counsel agreed with the questions by the Court regarding a proposed division in kind. (ROA 503-05). Mrs. Reavis explained to the Court that there were past discussions with proposed new plats and new surveys dividing the property between herself and her brother. *Id.*; (P's Ex. 4) A price of \$110,000.00 was to have been paid by Mrs. Reavis to her brother. *Id.* Mrs. Reavis testified and agree that with a division, she also would have liked for her brother to access his portion via another method and have his own way in . *Id* at 398. She cannot now claim that she does not want a partition in kind when she agreed to it at trial. There was no objection to Judge Scarborough's determination that an in kind partition would be best for the parties. (ROA 548-552). In fact during those discussions regarding the lines to be drawn to divide the Property and their location, Mrs. Reavis's counsel stated that "[t]hat's not objectionable". (ROA 552).

Mrs. Reavis is now stating that which she did not argue for at trial. Mrs. Reavis allegedly wanted allegedly buy out her bother's interest, and pay the owelty under a theory of allotment. (ROA 118).

Further, Mrs. Reavis is wrongfully claiming that she was not given her statutory right of first refusal per S.C. Code Ann. §15-61-25 where she did not comply with the statute. That Code Section states:

(A) Upon the filing of a petition for real property owned by joint tenants or tenants in common, the court shall provide for the nonpetitioning joint tenants or tenants in common or tenants in common who are interested in purchasing the property to notify the court of that interest **no later than ten days prior to the date set for the trial of the case**

S.C. Code Ann. §15-61-25 (emphasis added).

Mrs. Reavis never notified the Court of her desire to purchase her brothers' interest prior to the trial of the case. Instead, she claims that her answer and counterclaim was sufficient notice, but that is not in compliance with the statute. Judge Scarborough addressed that issue at the beginning of the trial by (ROA 114-16). There was a Scheduling Order entered in the matter in February 2022. (ROA 5, 116). There was never any notice given. The case was set for trial for April 18, 2023. There was no notice provided by April 8, 2023. The plain, unambiguous language of the statute provides that notice must be given to the Court ten days prior to trial. Even if there had been, to paraphrase His Honor, it is hard to understand how there could not be a partition, i.e., the division of the property.

II. BASED UPON THE HISTORY OF THE PROPERTY, THE PARTIES USE OF THE PROPERTY, THE PROPERTY, AND THE ACREAGE OF THE PROPERTY, THE MASTER CORRECTLY DETERMINED THAT THE PROPERTY SHOULD BE DIVIDED IN KIND

At trial, the parties agreed that the Property could be divided. As testified to by Mr. Harn and Mrs. Reavis, they both agreed to the division of property. The question is where it should be divided. Mr. Harn's Exhibit 5 showed a proposed division of the Property, which ultimately Mrs. Reavis would not sign or agree to sign and have recorded. (ROA 10, 643). The Property is easily and readily divisible as shown on that Exhibit 5. *Id.* The Court correctly found that the 46 acres could be divided fairly and even altered the proposed

division in order to “equalize the value of the property to each party” *Id.*

The Court properly awarded proposed Tract 2 to Mrs. Reavis, which continues the house, in which she resides. (ROA 10). The Court also gave the garage/shed to Mr. Harn. *Id.* Mr. Harn would receive 33 acres and Mrs. Reavis would receive 13 acres. *Id.* That was based on the Court’s determination as to the costs and expenses paid by the Harns. The Court “showed its work” on Page 6 of the Order, which shows the Court’s discretion.

III. THE MASTER PROPERLY FOUND THE DIVISION OF THE PROPERTY BASED UPON THE ACREAGE, THE HISTORY OF THE PROPERTY, THE EXPENSES PAID BY THE RESPONDENT FOR YEARS, AND THE OUTCOMES BY THE COURT ARE SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE PRESENTED AT TRIAL INCLUDING ORDERING THE APPELLANT TO REIMBURSE THE RESPONDENT AND TO PAY THE RESPONDENT FOR THOSE EXPENSES

The Master properly considered equitable considerations in support of the outcome in his Order Granting Partition. *Campbell v. Jordan*, 382 C.C. 445, 675 S.E. 2d 801 (Ct. App. 2009). There was great discretion given by Judge Scarborough in making that determination. There was no abuse of discretion and his findings were supported by both evidence and law. *Thompson v. Swicegood*, 430 S.C. 648, 845 S.E.2d 920 (Ct. App. 2020) The Master correctly determined that there was a “question of remuneration” to be determined. (ROA 554). There was sufficient evidence presented that Mr. Harn was owed money for “rent, loss of use” and other expenses. *Id.* Mr. Harn’s testimony was that after he had to leave the Property, he was forced to pay rent elsewhere. *Id.* at 445. The Court also found that Mrs. Reavis interfered with Mr. Harn’s quiet enjoyment of the Property. (ROA 10).

The testimony offered was that the Mrs. Reavis failed to pay the taxes, upkeep, and maintenance of the property and that her husband used the property for which he paid no rent. (ROA 10, 463-64). Mr. Harn has paid the taxes on the Property for all but two (2) years of ownership. (ROA 241). Mrs. Keenan Harn, Jason Harn’s wife, prepared the figures presented to the Court and testified to them at trial. (ROA 261).

The Court correct concluded that Mr. Harn is entitled to contribution for payment of taxes for all but two (2) of the years of his ownership of the Property. (ROA 10).

The Court awarded the following costs:

1. \$1,550.00 for appraisals
2. \$5,250.00 for surveys
3. \$5,000.00 for roofing materials
4. \$27,000.00 for nine years of property taxes, half of which is \$19,400

This resulted in an award to Mr. Harn of \$92,900 as the sum owed to equalize the Property, which has a value of \$11,400 per acre. The Court also equalized the values given the award of the house on the property to Mrs. Reavis so that she was required to make a financial contribution in the amount of \$73,500. The house is worth \$375,000.00 and \$148,200 worth of land which totals \$523, 200. Mr. Harn receives land valued at \$376,200. The difference of \$147,000.00 divided in half equals to \$73,500.00. (ROA 10).

Mrs. Keenan Harn, Jason Harn's wife, prepared the figures presented to the Court. (ROA 261). The Court agreed with her calculations, which is not an abuse of discretion where Mrs. Harn testified as to those numbers, as did her husband.

#### IV. THE MASTER PROPERLY REQUIRED THE APPELLANT TO POST A BOND PURSUANT TO S.C. CODE ANN.§18-9-170 AND RULE 241(b)(4) SCACR WHERE THE ORDER GRANTING PARTION CONCERNS THE SALE OR DELIVIERY OF POSSESSION OF REAL PROPERTY

The Master in Equity properly required that a bond be posted in this matter in order to stay the execution of the judgment pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. §18-9-170 and Rule 241(b)(4) SCACR. The Respondent moved before the Master in Equity on August 14, 2024, to have the Appellant post a bond in order to stay the execution of the Order Granting Partition while this matter is before this Court. (ROA 100). The Court granted the motion properly. (ROA 21). The Order Granting Partition is a judgment directing delivery of possession of real

property. (ROA 10). As provided in S.C. Code Ann. § 18-9-170, a matter directly the delivery or sale of real property under appeal cannot be stayed unless the appellant provides a written undertaking with two sureties. The Court partitioned the property and ordered that title be conveyed pursuant to the Order, which constitutes the delivery of real property per the statute. *See also C-Sculptures, LLC v. Brown*, 393 S.C. 27, 709 S.E.2d 705 (Ct. App. 2011)(execution of judgment for sale or delivery of property shall not be stayed unless party against whom judgment is issued obtains a bond). His Honor property ruled that S.C. Code Ann. § 18-9-170 applies to this matter concerning the delivery of real property. It is a black and white issue.

That the Appellant and Respondents are Co-Tenants has nothing to do with the statutory and Appellate Rule requirement that a bond be posted in order to stay the Order Granting Partition. The Co-Tenancy of the parties was established by the Deed of Distribution granting them the property in question. A partition action is to break up that Co-Tenancy. The Order Granting Partition would not have been stayed pending this appeal without the posting of a bond since title and delivery was ordered by the Order Granting Partition.

V. THE MASTER PROPERLY CONSIDERED THE COURSE OF DEALINGS OF THE PARTIES IN A COURT SITTING IN EQUITY HAD PREVIOUSLY HEARD A MOTION TO COMPEL SETTLEMENT, WHICH HE DENIED, BUT WHICH SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT HAD SET THE VALUE OF THE PROPERTY

The Master in Equity properly admitted the Plaintiff's Exhibit 11, being the Mediation Agreement signed by Mr. Harn, Mrs. Reavis, and Mr. Harn's counsel but not signed by Mrs. Reavis's counsel on June 23, 2002. The Court had seen this Exhibit in the Motion to Compel Settlement which the Court denied. The Master in Equity admitted the Exhibit 11 over the objection of Mrs. Reavis for the purpose of establishing what was an agreed upon fair market value at the time. (ROA 200-03). Mrs. Reavis agreed. (ROA 351). The Exhibit was not offered to prove the underlying claims, but, instead to show evidence that would have

otherwise been discoverable. Notes. Rule 408 SCREvid. Mr. Harn and Mrs. Reavis both agreed at that time, June 23, 2002, that \$650,000.00 was a fair price for Mrs. Reavis's interest in the Property. That was the use of Exhibit 11 at trial as admitted by Judge Scarborough. That the agreement was not enforceable under Rule 43(k) SCRCivP does not render it inadmissible for another purpose. As His Honor noted, "I've allowed Exhibit 11 because both parties signed it and it has a set price in there of 650,000 as agreed-upon price" (ROA 209). There was no prejudice in the Court considering Exhibit 11 where each party also presented testimony from an expert appraiser, the Court considered both appraisals, and ruled the property with improvements was worth \$900,000.00, which is more than the \$650,000.00 agreed upon as shown in Exhibit 11.


#### CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Respondent request that this Court uphold the Order Granting Partition of June 27, 2024, and require that the bond posted by the Appellant be made payable to the Respondent for having to defend this frivolous appeal.

Mt. Pleasant, South Carolina

BUIST BYARS & TAYLOR, LLC

May 21, 2025

  
\_\_\_\_\_  
G. Hamlin O'Kelley, III,  
SC Bar No. 15491  
652 Coleman Blvd., Suite 200  
Mt. Pleasant, SC 29464  
T: (843) 856-4488  
F: (843) 856-0613  
[Hamlin.okelley@buistbyars.com](mailto:Hamlin.okelley@buistbyars.com)  
*Attorney for the Respondent*

**RECEIVED**

**May 22 2025**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Mikell R. Scarborough, Master in Equity

Case No. 2021-CP-10-02661  
Appellate Case No. 2024-001312

Jason Loy Harn.....Respondent,

vs.

Mary Nicole Reavis f/k/a Mary Nicole Harn.....Appellant.